IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF SURAJ GEORGE PAZHOOR AND HANCY CHENNIKKARA PAZHOOR

Upon the Petition of)	
SURAJ GEORGE PAZHOOR,)	
Applicant/Petitioner/Appellee,)	
and Concerning) S.C. NO. 20	-0090
HANCY CHENNIKKARA)	
PAZHOOR n/k/a HANCY)	
CHENNIKKARA,)	
)	
Resister/Respondent/Appellant.)	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. SHUBATT, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' RULING, FILED JANUARY 21, 2021

Andrew B. Howie
SHINDLER, ANDERSON, GOPLERUD
& WEESE, P.C.
5015 Grand Ridge Drive, Suite 100
West Des Moines, Iowa 50265
515-223-4567; Fax: 515-223-8887
howie@sagwlaw.com

Statement of the Case

Applicant, Suraj George Pazhoor ("Suraj"), and Resister, Hancy Chennikkara Pazhoor n/k/a Hancy Chennikkara (hereinafter "Hancy"), tried their dissolution of marriage action to the honorable Michael J. Shubatt on August 13-14, 2019. The district court filed its dissolution decree on October 18, 2019. (App. at 48-64.) The court weighed the evidence, made certain credibility decisions, and filed an equitable decree. The court granted the parties shared physical care of the parties' two minor children, divided their property, and ordered Suraj to pay Hancy child support and spousal support. Relevant to this application, Suraj did not appeal, but Hancy appealed several provisions of the decree, particularly the district court's spousal support award.

At trial, the parties agreed that Hancy should receive spousal support, but they disagreed on the amount and duration. Suraj requested the trial court order him to pay Hancy \$5,000 monthly for five years – \$300,000 total (5000x12x5). (App. at 53; Ct. App. Ruling p7.) In contrast, Hancy asked for "traditional support in the amount of \$12,000.00 per [month.]" (App. at 53; see Ct. App. Ruling p7.) The district court concluded that alimony "is appropriate, but only for a rehabilitative period that will allow Hancy to pursue further education and a job in which she can use her prior medical education." (App. at 54.) It ordered Suraj to pay Hancy "five years of rehabilitative alimony at \$7,500 per month" – \$450,000 total (7500x12x5). (App. at 55; see Ct. App. Ruling p7.) The district court explained: "This will allow Hancy to maintain her current lifestyle while she pursues additional education and finds and settles in to a new position." (App. at 54; see Ct. App. Ruling p7.) Only Hancy appealed.

This Court transferred the case to the Iowa Court of Appeals. On January 21, 2021, the court of appeals increased Suraj's spousal support obligation by

added).) The trial record reflects Hancy asked for \$12,000 per month. (App. at 53.)

¹ The court of appeals incorrectly stated that Hancy asked the trial court to award

her "traditional support" of "\$12,000 per year." (Ct. App. Ruling p7 (emphasis

169%. (Ct. App. Ruling p17-18.) It concluded that Hancy should receive "an award of hybrid spousal support" of:

\$9000.00 per month for a period of seven years, which amount will then be reduced to \$8000.00 per month for a period of three years, then reduced to \$7000.00 per month for two years, at which time the spousal support obligation will terminate at the expiration of the twelve-year term

- \$1,212,000 total ((9000x12x7)+(8000x12x3)+(7000x12x2)). (Ct. App. Ruling p17-18.) Also, the court appeals ruled:

In the event Hancy remarries after the first seven-year period, but before expiration or satisfaction of the twelve-year spousal-support obligation, the support obligation shall terminate so long as Suraj is current on his obligations for support. In the event of the death of either party, the spousal support obligation shall terminate.

(Ct. App. Ruling p18.) Suraj applies for further review.

Statement of the Facts

Arranged by their families, the parties married in May 2002. When the district court ended their seventeen-year marriage in October 2019, Suraj was 43, Hancy was nearly 41, and their two children were 11 and 6 years-old. Suraj was in good health. Suraj is a medical doctor practicing in Dubuque. Though Hancy had health issues in the past, those issues did not affect her at the time of trial and would not detrimentally affect her ability to work outside the home in the future.

Hancy is well educated having completed medical school in India in seven years. She completed medical school before the marriage and her internship after

the marriage. She became a registered physician in India. When the parties relocated to the United States, Hancy began the process to take her medical boards. Though she passed one board, she quit taking them. Due to caring for her ill father and becoming pregnant with their first child, Hancy never obtained her license to practice in the United States. Beginning in 2008, based in part on her fear of pursuing forward with her medical career, the parties decided Hancy would care for their home and children. From 2008 through 2017, Hancy earned no income. (App. at 635-38.) For Hancy now to obtain her license to practice medicine, she effectively would have to start over with education, internships, and passing boards. Hancy has considered pursuing a Master of Public Health degree that would take 2-3 years attending fulltime. (App. at 49, 702-25.) Hancy suffered from migraines and spondylolisthesis in the past, but had not endured any effects for years prior to the divorce trial.

Argument

1. Was it error for the court of appeals to increase the trial court's spousal support award by 169% when the support recipient does not need \$1,212,000 in total support paid over 12 years?

This Court has routinely held "while our review is de novo, we have emphasized that we accord the trial court considerable latitude. We will disturb the trial court's order only when there has been a failure to do equity." *Gust*, 858

N.W.2d at 406 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted); *accord Mauer*, 874 N.W.2d at 106. As the *Gust* Court emphasized:

"This deference to the trial court's determination is decidedly in the public interest. When appellate courts unduly refine these important, but often conjectural, judgment calls, they thereby foster appeals in hosts of cases, at staggering expense to the parties wholly disproportionate to any benefit they might hope to realize."

Gust at 407 (quoting In re Marriage of Benson, 545 N.W.2d 252, 257 (Iowa 1996)). "The legislature has not authorized Iowa courts to employ any fixed or mathematical formula in applying spousal support. Rather, it has instructed courts to equitably award spousal support by considering each" criterion of Iowa Code section 598.21A(1). Maner at 107 (citations omitted). A court must consider the factors listed in Iowa Code section 598.21A (2021) when determining what spousal support, if any, is justified. Maner at 106-07.

When applying those statutory factors, Iowa courts recognize three types of spousal support: rehabilitative, reimbursement, and traditional. *In re Marriage of Probasco*, 676 N.W.2d 179, 184 (Iowa 2004). "Each type of spousal support has a different goal." *Becker*, 756 N.W.2d at 826.

Rehabilitative alimony serves to support an economically dependent spouse through a limited period of education and retraining. Its objective is self-sufficiency. An award of reimbursement alimony is predicated upon economic sacrifices made by one spouse during the marriage that directly enhance the future earning capacity of the other. Traditional alimony is payable for life or for so long as a dependent spouse is incapable of self-support. The amount of

alimony awarded and its duration will differ according to the purpose it is designed to serve.

In re Marriage of O'Rourke, 547 N.W.2d 864, 866–67 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996) (emphasis in original citing In re Marriage of Francis, 442 N.W.2d 59, 63-64 (Iowa 1989)). Those three types are not exclusive of each other, this Court stated:

there is nothing in our case law that requires us, or any other court of this state, to award only one type of support. What we are required to do is to consider the factors mandated by the legislature contained in [§ 598.21A(1)] when considering a spousal support award.

Becker, 756 N.W.2d at 827.

Both the district court and court of appeals properly rejected Hancy's request for permanent or traditional alimony. *See Gust*, 858 N.W.2d at 408 (noting traditional support is generally for an indefinite duration). Reimbursement alimony also is not justified because Hancy's economic sacrifices did not pay for Suraj's advanced degree – both parties completed medical school prior to the marriage. *See Francis*, 442 N.W.2d at 64. The district court and court of appeals then crafted an award based on Hancy's desire to return to school with the goal of achieving self-sufficiency but imposed a definite end, both "hallmarks of rehabilitative alimony." *Witherly*, 867 N.W.2d at 859. The district court's award accomplishes this goal. *See id*.

At the time of trial, Suraj earned an annual income of \$500,742.18. (Ct. App. Ruling p6.) The court of appeals concluded Hancy's annual "gross income

to be \$23,115.00." (Ct. App. Ruling p14.) At nearly 41 years-old, Hancy has many years ahead of her to improve her education and earning potential, so she is capable of self-support. Though Hancy is entitled to alimony to compensate for lost earning capacity during the marriage, she is young, healthy, and already achieved a medical degree. In five years (when the district court's alimony award expires), she will be only 46 years-old, more educated, and able to earn greater income, and the children will be older which lessens the demands on her ability to work outside the home. Stretching that award to 12 years is unjustified considering those factors. She will not take twelve years to attain necessary education and experience to improve her financial situation. Further, Iowa law does not require Suraj to pay so much spousal support - maintaining Hancy's lifestyle as well as his own twelve years after their divorce when both parties will only be in their early fifties. This is not a case where Hancy is close to retirement, wholly dependent on Suraj's income, and little chance to improve herself. Her education, age, and health, justify five years of spousal support, not twelve. The district court's award of \$7500 monthly for five years permits Hancy to maintain her lifestyle while providing income to support herself and paying for additional education. Considering the parties' ages, good health, and Hancy's ability to substantially increase her earning capacity in the next few years, a twelve-year alimony award is not justified.

Though the court of appeals weighed the several factors of section 598.21A(1) in order to determine spousal support was appropriate, the income disparity between the parties led the court to an inequitable result by overcompensating to remedy that difference. The court of appeals correctly concluded, "Suraj will unquestionably continue to have a much higher income. We find this factor weighs in favor of a spousal-support award in some form." (Ct. App. Ruling p15-16.) However, the court of appeals' 169% increase to the district court's award is unjustified and exceeds what is necessary for Hancy to maintain her lifestyle while updating her education toward the goal of self-sufficiency.

The other criteria support an alimony award, but not at the level rendered by the court of appeals. Though Hancy suffered from migraines and a back condition, both the district court and court of appeals correctly found that Hancy's health did not detrimentally affect her ability to work outside the home in the future. (Ct. App. Ruling p2-3; App at 54.); *see* Iowa Code § 598.21A(1)(b) (2021). Both parties completed medical school before they married and attended internships after they married. Early in their marriage, Hancy passed two of four medical boards, but due to her family commitments, she abandoned further efforts. (Ct. App. Ruling p3 n.1.) Later Hancy returned to her studies but she had an "overwhelming" fear of failing, so she quit. (Ct. App. Ruling p3.) Immediately

prior to trial, Hancy had explored pursuing a master's degree in public health as compared to obtaining a medical license, but had not decided which path. She testified her credits may not transfer; if not, then she would have to retake undergraduate courses. She expected it to take two to three years on a fulltime basis to complete. Based on her education, there was evidence Hancy could immediately return to the medical field in a non-clinical role. (Ct. App. Ruling p5); \$598.21A(1)(d), (e), & (f).

The court of appeals found Hancy annually received \$23,115.00 in wage and passive investment income. (Ct. App. Ruling p13-14 (note omitted & emphasis added).) Iowa courts must consider alimony and property division together. Iowa Code § 598.21(5)(h) & § 598.21A(1)(c) (2021); see In re Marriage of Dahl, 418 N.W.2d 358, 359 (Iowa Ct. App. 1987). The court of appeals correctly found Hancy left the marriage "with substantial assets ... netting roughly \$337,754.50 from marital property and ... her premarital business ... [and other] assets totaling \$136,565.12." (Ct. App. Ruling p16.) Investing those assets would provide additional income. (See App. 48-64.) With \$23,115 plus an annual \$90,000 in alimony as the district court awarded would leave Hancy with \$113,115 annual income or \$9,426.25 monthly, not including any additional investment income. She also receives \$527.22 monthly for child support which brings her total monthly income to \$9,953.47. (Ct. App. Ruling p20.) Both child and spousal

support income are tax free to her. *Mann*, 943 N.W.2d at 21; *see* Iowa Code § 598.21A(1)(g) (2021) (the court must consider the tax consequences to each party).

When determining the appropriateness of alimony, the court considers "(1) the earning capacity of each party, and (2) present standards of living and ability to pay balanced against relative needs of the other." O'Rourke, 547 N.W.2d at 866 (citations omitted). "[T]he vardstick for determining need has been the ability of a spouse to become self-sufficient at 'a standard of living reasonably comparable to that enjoyed during the marriage." Gust, 858 N.W.2d at 411. In her appellate brief, Hancy argued her monthly expenses are \$10,244.61, which included \$3,551.98 monthly for future tuition. Thus, \$7500 in monthly alimony combined with her other income permits Hancy to maintain her standard of living while working toward self-sufficiency. See Iowa Code § 598.21A(1)(f) (2021); Witherly, 867 N.W.2d at 859-60 (reducing the district court's rehabilitative alimony award from \$2600 monthly until the recipient turned 65 years-old (she was 49 at trial) to \$2600 monthly for five years and \$1300 a month thereafter until the recipient turned sixty-five, remarried, or if either party dies).

If the parties are relatively close to retirement, then retirement is a significant factor in determining the duration of the support. *See Maner*, 874 N.W.2d at 112 (Iowa 2016) ("Based on these facts and circumstances, we

conclude section 598.21A(1) requires us to account for the retirement of both parties in setting spousal support.") The opposite should also be true – if the parties are many years from retirement, then that should be a consideration in the duration of the support. Hancy was more than 25 years from retirement. Hancy has years earning her own wages and contributing toward her own retirement savings. The court of appeals' increase in the district court's alimony award is unjustified and inequitable. This Court should grant further review to vacate the court of appeal's alimony modification and affirm the district court.

2. Should the Iowa Supreme Court formally recognize transitional alimony as a specific type of spousal support and did the court of appeals inequitably modify the district court's equitable transitional spousal support award?

In several recent unpublished opinions filed by the Iowa Court of Appeals, that court has found a fourth category of alimony – transitional – to provide a basis for limited alimony awards because the facts do not fit into three existing categories of spousal support. *See, e.g., Garmoe*, 2020 WL 1888774, at *2; *Brown*, 2020 WL 569344, at *6; *Jenn*, 2019 WL 5424938, at *2; *In re Marriage of Hansen*, No. 17-0889, 2018 WL 4922992, at *16 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018) (McDonald, J., concurring specially) (recognizing transitional support as a form of spousal support); *In re Marriage of Lange*, No. 16-1484, 2017 WL 6033733, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017) ("Jessica does not need traditional rehabilitative support so much as

transitional support while finding suitable employment."). This Court made clear in *Becker* that any court may award any type of alimony that the facts justify an award under section 598.21A(1). *Becker*, 756 N.W.2d at 827-28; *accord Gust*, 858 N.W.2d at 408 (noting categories of spousal support might "overlap" in some cases); *see Witherly*, 867 N.W.2d at 859-60 (stating "the moniker assigned to the spousal support award" is a "red herring" and noting *Gust* Court "recently reiterated our obligation to follow [section 598.21A] in the absence of legislation adopting a different standard"). However, recognizing transitional alimony as a fourth category will significantly help future courts and practitioners in fashioning an equitable award.

In a concurrence in *Hansen*, Justice McDonald, then as a member of the court of appeals, noted that Iowa's "caselaw has been somewhat inconsistent in discussing transitional spousal support. At least some of our cases recognize transitional support as distinct fourth category of spousal support." *Hansen*, 2018 WL 4922992, at *16 (McDonald, J., concurring specially); *see Lange*, 2017 WL 6033733, at *3. At times, Iowa courts have interchangeably used the terms "transitional alimony" and "rehabilitative alimony". *In re Marriage of Smith*, 573 N.W.2d 924, 926-27 (Iowa 1996); *In re Marriage of Russell*, 473 N.W.2d 244, 247 (Iowa Ct. App. 1991). However, Justice McDonald concluded, "transitional spousal support is separate and distinct from rehabilitative spousal support."

Hansen, 2018 WL 4922992, at *17. In a later case, contrasting rehabilitative alimony from transitional alimony, Justice McDonald opined:

[T]ransitional support applies where the recipient spouse may already have the capacity for self-support at the time of dissolution but needs short-term assistance in transitioning from married status to single status due to the economic dislocation caused by the dissolution of marriage. The critical consideration is whether the recipient party has sufficient income and/or liquid assets to transition from married life to single life without undue hardship.

In re Marriage of Baccam, No. 17-1252, 2018 WL 5850224, at *9 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 7, 2018) (McDonald, J., dissenting) (citations omitted). Justice McDonald identified specific considerations for a court when determining whether to award transitional alimony stating it:

applies where the recipient spouse may already have the capacity for self-support at the time of dissolution but needs short-term assistance in transitioning from married status to single status due to the economic and situational consequences of dissolution. The critical consideration is whether the recipient party has sufficient income and/or liquid assets to transition from married life to single life without undue hardship.

Id. (ultimately concluding transitional alimony was not warranted in that case).

Notably, the Iowa Supreme Court has *not* expressly recognized transitional alimony. *See Hansen*, 2018 WL 4922992, at *16-*17 (McDonald, J., concurring). In a post-*Hansen* opinion, then-Judge McDonald noted:

Even if *Becker* allowed for non-categorical forms of spousal support, the circumstances justifying such an award should be extraordinary. We should not be quick to recognize new categories of spousal

support. Nor should we be too lax in applying the generally-recognized categories to the facts of a particular case. Among the galaxy of cases, the generally-recognized categories of support are constellations providing guidance in navigating the otherwise uncharted waters of spousal support.

Baccam, 2018 WL 5850224, at *10 (McDonald, J., dissenting). Since Justice McDonald joined the Iowa Supreme Court in 2019, the court of appeals in unpublished opinions has recognized transitional alimony as a fourth type. Garmoe, 2020 WL 1888774, at *2 ("Cases applying [the § 598.21A(1)] factors have identified 'four categories of spousal support: traditional, rehabilitative, reimbursement, or transitional."); Brown, 2020 WL 569344, at *6 n.7; Jenn, 2019 WL 5424938, at *2-*3 ("We have recognized transitional support as a fourth category of spousal support."). This Court should formally recognize and define transitional alimony as a fourth category of spousal support that will help future courts and practitioners in fashioning an equitable remedy and help avoid "extraordinary" "non-categorical forms of spousal support". See Baccam, 2018 WL 5850224, at *10 (McDonald, J., dissenting).

With the property, child support, and her employment income, it is reasonably feasible that within five years of the divorce Hancy will become "self-supporting at a standard of living reasonably comparable to that enjoyed during the marriage". *See* § 598.21A(1)(f). Particularly, the \$90,000 in annual alimony ordered by the district court is tax free. *See Mann*, 943 N.W.2d at 21. Applied to

this case, the district court's spousal support is an equitable transitional alimony award because Hancy already has the capacity for self-support, but she needs short-term assistance to update her education and avoid spending her liquid assets to transition from married to single life. *See Baccam*, 2018 WL 5850224, at *9 (McDonald, J., dissenting). In contrast, the court of appeals' increase in amount and duration is excessive and unnecessary considering Hancy's previous education, her relatively young age, and years of future employability at a much higher level than her current job as a part-time church teacher and barista. This Court should grant further review to clarify whether transitional alimony is a fourth category of alimony as suggested by the several recent unpublished Iowa Court of Appeals' opinions, and then affirm the district court's spousal support award as transitional alimony.

Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, this Court should grant further review, vacate the court of appeals decision regarding the spousal support provisions, and affirm the district court's alimony award and all other provisions.