IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR OF IOWA SUPREME COURT NO. 20-0090 Dubuque County No. CDDM016001

Upon the Petition of **SURAJ GEORGE PAZHOOR**, Appellee/Petitioner,

And Concerning
HANCY CHENNIKKARA,
f.k.a. HANCY CHENNIKKARA PAZHOOR,
Appellant/Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY HONORABLE JUDGE MICHAEL J. SHUBATT

APPELLANT/RESPONDENT'S RESISTANCE TO APPELLEE'S APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' RULING, FILED JANUARY 21, 2021

> JENNY L. WEISS, AT0009397 FUERSTE, CAREW JUERGENS & SUDMEIER, P.C. 890 MAIN STREET SUITE 200 DUBUQUE, IA 52001 TEL: (563) 556-4011 FAX: (563) 556-7134 EMAIL: jweiss@fuerstelaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT/RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Suraj argues the Court of Appeals' decision was inequitable because "[Hancy] does not need \$1,212,000 in total support paid over 12 years." In support of his argument, Suraj argues neither Hancy's educational needs nor her lifestyle require such an award. This argument is not factually or mathematically accurate.

Alimony may be awarded for a limited or indefinite length of time after considering those factors enumerated in section 598.21A(1), Code of Iowa. Section 598.21A(1). Those factors pertinent to this case include (1) the length of the marriage; (2) the property distribution; (3) the educational level of each party at the time of marriage and at the time the action is commenced; (4) the earning capacity of Hancy, including her educational background, training, employment skills, work experience, and length of absence from the job market; (5) the feasibility of the party seeking alimony becoming selfsupporting at a standard of living reasonably comparable to that enjoyed during the marriage, and the length of time necessary to achieve this goal; and (6) other factors the court may determine to be relevant in an individual case. Iowa Code §598.41A(1). The decision of the Court of Appeals considered each of these factors in making its decision.

"Alimony may be used to remedy inequities in a marriage and to compensate a spouse who leaves the marriage at a financial disadvantage." In re Marriage of Geil, 509 N.W.2d 738, 742 (Iowa 1993). It "is a stipend to a spouse in lieu of the other spouse's legal obligation for support." In re Marriage of Anliker, 694 N.W.2d 535, 540 (Iowa 2005).

The factors outlined in §598.21A are applied to the three types of spousal support recognized by Iowa courts: traditional, rehabilitative, and

reimbursement. *In re Marriage of Becker*, 756 N.W.2d 822, 826 (Iowa 2008). The Court is not required to award one or another; it may award a combination, a hybrid, of types of spousal support if deemed appropriate. *Id.* at 827-828 ("[T]here is nothing in our case law that requires us, or any other court in this state, to award only one type of support. What we are required to do is to consider the factors mandated by the legislature contained in section [598.21A(3)] when considering a spousal support award. Therefore, even if we cannot characterize the support award as purely rehabilitative or traditional, under the facts of this case the spousal support award we make to [wife] best reflects the factors found in section [598.21A(3)].").

In this case, the Court of Appeals analyzed each factor outlined in section 598.21A(3) and held a hybrid award was warranted under the facts of the case. While Hancy argued she was entitled to a combination of support under all three forms of alimony, the Court of Appeals' award was a hybrid of traditional and rehabilitative, similar to what was awarded by this Court in *Becker*. In fact, the facts in *Becker* are strikingly similar to the facts in this case, and the Court of Appeals' rationale in this decision mirror this Court's findings and holdings in *Becker*. *Id*. at 826-827.

The Supreme Court recently revisited the Iowa statutory and case law framework applicable when analyzing alimony in its *In re Marriage of Gust* decision:

First, our caselaw demonstrates that duration of the marriage is an important factor for an award of traditional spousal support. Traditional spousal support is often used in long-term marriages where life patterns have been largely set and "the earning potential of both spouses can be predicted with reliability." Further, particularly traditional marriage, when the parties agree a spouse should stay home to raise children, the economic consequences of absence from the workplace can be substantial. While neither we nor the legislature have established a fixed formula, the shorter the marriage, the less likely a court is to award traditional spousal support. Generally speaking, marriages lasting twenty or more years commonly cross the durational threshold and merit serious consideration for traditional support.

Second, the cases emphasize that in marriages of relatively long duration, "[t]he imposition and length of an award of traditional alimony is primarily predicated on need and ability." For over forty years, by virtue of both judicial decision and legislative provision, the yardstick for determining need has been the ability of a spouse to become selfsufficient at "a standard of living reasonably comparable to that enjoyed the marriage." The standard for determining need is thus objectively and measurably based upon the predivorce experience and private decisions of the parties, not on some externally discovered and imposed approach to need, such as subsistence or

adequate living standards or amorphous notions of self-sufficiency.

In determining need, we focus on the earning capability of the spouses, not necessarily on actual income. In marriages of long duration, the historical record ordinarily provides an objective starting point for determining earning capacity of persons with work experience. In order to establish earning capability for persons without work experience or who are arguably unemployed, the parties may use vocational and other experts to assist the court in making the determination.

With respect to ability to pay, we have noted that "[f]ollowing a marriage of long duration, we have affirmed awards both of alimony and substantially equal property distribution, especially where the disparity in earning capacity has been great." Where there is a substantial disparity, we do not employ a mathematical formula to determine the amount of spousal support. We have, however, approved spousal support where it amounts to approximately thirty-one percent of the difference in annual income between spouses. Where a spouse does not have the ability to pay traditional spousal support, however, none will be awarded.

With respect to duration, we have observed that an award of traditional spousal support is normally payable until the death of either party, the payee's remarriage, or until the dependent is capable of self-support at the lifestyle to which the party was accustomed during the marriage. In order to limit or end traditional support, the evidence must establish that the payee spouse has the capacity to close the gap between income and need or show that it is fair to require him or her alone to bear the remaining gap between income and reasonable needs. Spousal support may end, however, where the record shows

that a payee spouse has or will at some point reach a position where self-support at a standard of living comparable to that enjoyed in the marriage is attainable.

858 N.W.2d 402, 410 - 412 (Iowa 2015). Internal citations omitted.

Suraj's argument that \$7,500 a month for 60 months in rehabilitative alimony is sufficient to support Hancy in her re-education goals while also allowing her to live in a lifestyle to which she has become accustomed is simply not supported by the record. The record reflects that Hancy's basic and static monthly expenses, with tuition, total \$10,244.61. (App. 92-95). These expenses do not include variable purchases for the children, including clothing, club membership dues, incidentals, personal grooming, laundry, allowances, life insurance, babysitting, church donations, gifts, or the ability to save for herself, (App. 92-95). Remove tuition and the alimony award by the District Court's award of \$7,500 would still just cover her basic expenses. (App. 92-95). The District Court's award put Hancy in the red each month, unless she were to deplete liquid assets. (App. 65-81).

Simply put, Suraj's argument that the District Court's award of "\$7,500 in monthly alimony combined with her other income permits Hancy to maintain her standard of living while working towards self-sufficiency" is (1) not mathematically accurate, and (2) undercuts his argument that the award was sufficient to cover her expenses while also paying and going to school.

He argues her monthly support, with the District Court's alimony order and child support, equals \$9,953.47. First, this is his estimated gross income, of which \$2,253.47 is taxable; and, second, he recognizes her total monthly expenses total \$10,244.61. Elementary math shows \$9,953.47 in monthly income does not cover \$10,244.61 in monthly expenses.

The irony of Suraj's argument that Hancy is not in need of alimony in the amount or duration awarded by the Court of Appeals is on full display when his own estimated monthly expenses exceed \$15,000 per month; an amount that allows him to continue to reside in a 5,600 sq ft home on a golf-course and drive a Tesla. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 152, L4-8; App. 92-95). In the year prior to the divorce, Suraj paid over \$100,000 to E*Trade in an attempt at "amateur" investing. (App. 728-825; 826-885; 886-952; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 115, L12 thru p. 117, L. 24).

The record reflects Suraj's gross annual income is \$500,000 annually, which equals a net monthly income of approximately \$26,000 (calculation). The Court of Appeals' decision award of \$9,000 for the first 7 years reduces his net income to \$15,000, which not only allows him to maintain his current lifestyle but this difference will continue to increase as his annual income continues to increase - a fact conceded by Suraj. (Application, pg. 15 "The

Court of appeals correctly concluded, 'Suraj will unquestionably continue to have a much higher income...").

Suraj also argues there "was evidence Hancy could immediately return to the medical field in a non-clinical role." Again, not accurate. Suraj "was of the opinion" Hancy could earn \$100,000 to \$200,000 in annual income. He had no credible evidence to support this opinion. Further, the credible evidence demonstrated that Hancy could not just re-enter the medical field, to wit: Hancy interviewed for a position at Mercy as a patient's advocate but was denied because her foreign medical degree did not satisfy the pre-requisite of having a nursing degree. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 131, L4-12).

Suraj supports his opinion that Hancy could earn \$100,000 annually by repeatedly making reference to Hancy's foreign medical degree, which she had "at the time of the marriage," citing Iowa Code §598.21A(1)(d). However, he ignores the second clause of 598.21A(1)(d) which requires the Court to consider the education level of the parties "at the time the action is commenced." In this case, Hancy's education level between marriage and divorce arguably went backwards; while she still has a foreign medical degree, any successful steps she took to obtain her license to practice in America have expired. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 85, L19-21; p. 93, L12-17; p. 108, L19-23).

Suraj further argues it will only take 2-3 years for Hancy to earn a degree in public health. This argument, repeated throughout his brief, is a perversion of Hancy's testimony. Hancy testified it would take 2-3 years of full-time study for her to complete a degree <u>after</u> she (1) transferred her credits from India – "not easy at all", (2) confirmed those credits would be accepted; and (3) satisfied any additional pre-requisites. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 134, L9-125). Only then would Hancy be able to begin her studies, which at a minimum would take 2-3 years to complete as a full-time student, while also raising her two children 50% of the time and working full-time to supplement the alimony. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 134, L9-17).

Finally, Suraj argues the Court of Appeals' modification of spousal support was inequitable considering the fact that neither are close to retirement, citing *In re Marriage of Mauer*, 847 N.W.2d 103, 112 (Iowa 2016). In *Mauer*, the wife was awarded lifetime alimony that decreased upon attaining the age of 66.6 years. *Id*. In the *Mauer* decision, the Supreme Court explained its decision to reduce alimony at the time of full retirement age by focusing on two facts not present in this case: (1) the wife in *Mauer* was awarded over \$850,000 in retirement assets which would continue to grow, tax free, and (2) she would be able to draw upon her own social security based on her own prior income. *Id*. Conversely, Hancy was awarded \$42,278.07 in

non-marital investment/retirement accounts plus one-half of Suraj's GRMG 401k of approximately \$84,500. (App. 23). Further, Hancy currently has little to no social security based on her own income. (App. 635-638). The Appellate Court's alimony award will not only allow Hancy to continue to live the lifestyle to which she is accustomed while allowing a period of reeducation/training, but it also allows her to save for her own future retirement. <u>See In re Marriage of Stenzel</u>, 908 N.W.2d 524, 535-536 (Iowa App. 2018).

The records and credible evidence clearly demonstrate Hancy does not and never will have an earning capacity sufficient to allow her to enjoy a lifestyle similar to what she enjoyed during the marriage, and the Court of Appeals' decision was equitable and in conformance with those factors outlined in §598.21A.

Suraj further argues the Supreme Court should use this case as an opportunity to formally recognize transitional alimony. First, neither Suraj nor Hancy sought transitional alimony at either the District Court or on appeal. Hancy sought a combination of traditional, rehabilitative, and reimbursement support while Suraj only argued for rehabilitative alimony. Neither the District Court nor the Court of Appeals considered transitional alimony, as defined by Justice McDonald in his dissenting opinion in *In re Marriage of Baccam*, No. 17-1252, 2018 WL 5850224 (Iowa App. 2018).

If the Court were to entertain Suraj's argument and review the facts of this case under those considerations outlined by Justice McDonald in his dissent in Baccam, the Court of Appeals' award of a hybrid alimony, whether it be combination of traditional and rehabilitative or traditional and transitional, was correct. As noted by Justice McDonald, "the critical consideration [in transitional alimony] is whether the recipient spouse has sufficient income and/or liquid assets to transition from married life to single life without undue hardship." Id. (McDonald, dissenting). In this case, Hancy has neither the income nor the liquid assets to transition from married life to single life without undue hardship. She received approximately \$350,000 in liquid assets, of which approximately \$43,000 were her pre-marital assets accumulated since she was a child. It is understood she would need to use these funds to purchase a new home, further depleting her liquid assets. As for income, Hancy's wage income at the time of trial was \$8,320 as a barista and \$918 as a CCD teacher. In addition, she received \$13,838 in passive income from real estate investments gifted by her mother, plus \$490 in net rental income from an Illinois condo. (App. 27-32, 138, 161-162, 208, 232, 685-88, 689; Tr. Vol 2, p. 7, L4 thru p. 8, L17). She does not have the income or assets to assist her in the transition, nor does she have the income or assets to support a standard of living reasonably comparable to that enjoyed during the

marriage. Hancy requests if the Court does take up this issue, it allows for additional briefing.